CHAPTER 5

DAXODIXA'

The word daxodixd' is a Western Apache term meaning ‘rising
upward' (Goodwin 1938:34), and was the name given to the second re-
ligious cult movement to be discussed here. Dagodixa' took place pri-
marily amoﬁg-fhe White Mountain Apaches, énd.to é lesserréxtentramong'
some San Carlos Apaches, between 1903 and 1907. It began with a spe-
cific ceremony accompanied by an equaliy specific doctrine that was
introduced by a Cibecue medicine man named Daslahdn ('once! or 'first').
Shortly afferwards it was taken over by other médicine men, including
Big John of Bylas, a community on the San Carlos Reservation, who
modified and added to the original forms. The movement came té an

end with the deaths of several of the participating medicine men.

Historical Context of Dayodiya'

The period between 1881 and 1902 was characterized‘hy increased
Anglo-Apache contact. Trends that began in the earlier period con-
tinued and new pressures were brought to bear on the Apaches.

The Battle of Cibecue in 1881 triggered a flurry of hostilities,
Within days of the conflict groups of Apaches scoured the countryside
looking for Anglos. As a result, four Mormons and three troopers were
killed close to Fort Apéche. A burial detail sent out of the post to
bury those who had lost their lives in the Cibecue episode was
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ambushed, and several Apaches actually attacked Fort Apache (Barnes
1941:56-86). Other Apaches located an unprotected ranch about thirty
miles from Cibecue and attacked it, killing two, wounding others, and
driving off seventy-five head of horses (Thrapp 1967:229-230). Within
a codple of weeks troops had been rushed into the San Carlos and Fort
Apache areas (King 1963:214-217) and many Apaches, aware of what might
happen if a full scale war developed, began to surrender. Several
Apaches, however, were in a precarious position because they had been
scouts and had turned on the column at Cibecue. Fearing charges of
treason or mutiny, they went into hiding and waited to see what would
happen. Meanwhile, the soldiers, having had time to organize, began
to arrest Apaéhes who were believed to have taken part in the Battle
of Cibecue.

One Apache consultant recalled how her grandfather, who had
been a scout at Cibecue, avoided arrest. The scout had been hiding for
some time and was weak and fhin, When soldiers were seen coming after
him, the Apache's relatives rubbed him in ashes and dirt. Then the
soldiers arrived.

And he was lying there so skinny, looking so sick, and he

was sick. So they couldn't take him; he was so weak so they
tried to make him walk, but he couldn't walk. So they stayed
there watching him while they sent one of those men back, one
of the guards back to the big boss. "Well," he said, "let
him die at home if he is that way." But he got well after
that; that was just an act. But he was really skinny be-
cause he was hiding himself in hunger most of the time
(female Apache consultant).

Within a relatively short time most of the Apaches were able to

come out of hiding without fear of punishment for their involvement in
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the Cibecue episode. This was because General McDowell had ruled that
"official bungling'' had forced the Apaches to protect their rights, and
therefore, only scouts in military service should be forced to suffer
extreme penalties (Ogle 1970:209). Eventually only five scouts were
punished. One was imprisoned for life, another was given a dishonor-
able discharge, and three were hanged at Camp Grant on March 3, 1882,

Meanwhile, at San Carlos, froop movements which followed in
the aftermath of the Battle of Cibecue caused much uneasiness among
the Apaches. Soon several Chiricahua Apache chiefs at San Carlos in-
" cluding Juh, Nachez, and Loco, fled the reservation with their follow-
ers and began to raid. Soldiers were_diépatched to subdue these
Apaches and several skirmishes and battles took place. Indian Agent
Wilcox (1883:7) described the chiefs at San Carlos in 1882 as "sullen
and defiant; others less bold, were discontent." |

It was not until two years later that the nearly 1,000 Indians
who had bolted from the reservation were returned and quiet was re-
stored. In 1884 General Crook affirmed that "for the first time in the
history of that fierce people, every member of the Apache tfibe is at
peace" (Thrapp 1967:303). However, the picture was soon to change.
Military officials, believing that the Aﬁache homemade liquor tuXpai,
or tiswin, was a major cause of disturbance on the reservation, pro=-
hibiting its manufacture. Indians living near Fort Apache under the
leadership of Geronimo, tired of such restrictidns, insisted that they

had the right to brew liquor and beat their wives when the women
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deserved it (Thrapp 1967:3%12). Shortly thereafter, Geronimo and 130
Chiricahua Apaches fled the reservation (Spicer 1962:255).

The presence of Indians "at large'" in Arizona, New Mexico and
Mexico had repercussions among the Apaches remaining on the reserva-
tion. ¥F. E, Pierce;>the acting agent at San Cérlos, reported that
there was a restlessness and uneasiness among the Indians concerning
the whereabouts of these héstiles. This fear was prompted by the
‘murder of fifteen White Mountain Apaches. by hostiles in the winter of
1885 (Pierce 1886:40). Oﬁ September 7, 1886, as a result of his sur-
render, Geronimo was taken to Holbrook destined for Fort Marion,
Florida. By 1888 hostilities were reported to be ended (Bullis 1888:
7). However, this, too, was premature, for certain Apaches who had
fled the reservation terrorized those who remained, Bullis (1890:11),
the acting agent at San Carlos reported that in 1890, seventeen ''rene-
gades'" made numerous hosfile visits to the reservation, killing several
Apaches, carrying away women and girlé, terrorizing the '""good Indians,"
and trying to persuade the dissatisfied reservations to join them.
Aécording to Bullis (1890:11), "This caused a general feeling of inse-
curity and fear among the Indians, and a disinclination to work on
their farms. . . ." One of these so0 called “reﬁggades" was known as
the Apache Kid, and in 1893 a $5,000 ?eward was offered for him --
dead or alive (Johnson 1893:122).

Fear of such dissidents as.the Apache Kid also was present
among the White Mountain Apaches near Cibecue and Fort Apache (Mayer-

hoff n.d.). Apache consultants recall the fear that spread among the
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White Mountain Apaches because of the Apache Kid. One incident began
when the Apache Kid kidnapped a Cibecue woman and took her to an area
near the present Wolsey Lake, a distance of seventy-five miles into the .
heart of the White Mountains. After living with her for several months
in a fortress made under a large rock, the Kid decided to move. To
prevent the woman from giving away his plans, he hamstrung hér and
left, After crawling fof days the woman was found by an Apache who
reported the event. Within the nexf few years little was heard of,the
Apache Kid and by 1896 he was assumed to be dead,

The following year control over the White Mountain Apaches be-
came more localized by an Act of Congress of June 7, 1897. This sepa-
rated what had formerly been one reservation, The White Mountain Indian
ﬁeservation; into two: the San Carlos Apache and the Fort Apache
Indian reservations.

Between 1881 and 1902, considerable pressures were brought to
bear on traditional Apache economic, social, and ideological systems.
As discussed earlier, the traditional Apache subsistence pattern was
drastically altered by confinement at San Carlos in 1875. ‘Bétween 1876
and 1880 most of the White Mountain Apaqhes were allowed to return home.
For those Indians who remained near the Saﬁ Carlos agency theroutlook‘
in 1882 was bleak. The attempt at "civilizing" the Indians through
farming pfograms had been considerébly less than successful. Wilcox
(1883:7) noted that as a result of numerous acts of hostiiity by rene-
gades, self-sufficiéncy had not been achieved. Farms along the Gila

and San Carlos rivers were overgrown with weeds and the miles of
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irrigation canals had been neglected and were unserviceable. Wifhout
adequate resources of their own the Indians at San Carlos needed full
rations for "failing to obtain them,'théy must beg, or steal, or go
hungry" (Wilcox 1883:7). In addition, and to make matteré worse, the
rationing was irregﬁlar and uncertain due to corruption and logistic
problems. _

By the time of the brief calm of 1884 some interest in farming
had been restored.. Indians repaired old canals, dug new ones, cleared
fields, and sowed crops. However, in February and March disastrous
flooding of the Gila and San Carlos rivers washed away most of the
plants. Evefy irrigation dam was reported destroyed. The Apaches were
disheartened and frustrated. In 1886 natural conditions again caused
major setbacks in farming. This time excessive heét and lack of rain-
fall destroyed crops (Pierce 1886:39-40). In 1892 severe flooding
occurred again (Johnson 1892:219).

To supplement agriculture, livestock was given to the Indians
at San Carlos. Thé herds gradually increased until 1886 when a large
number of cattle died of some disease 'which no one seems to understand"
(Pierce 1886:40). In addition, some Apaches complained that the cattle
they were réceiving were mean (Getty 1963:12) or of an inferior quality
(Frazer 1885:17),.

There were also Apaches from San Carlos working for wages.
Adams (1971:118) notes that.between 1872 and 1897 Apaches were employed
"in constructing roads, dams, ditchés, and buildings, and as teamsters,

herders, and butchers." A limited number of Apaches were also
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employed by ranchers to repair ditches, chop wood, and make adobe.
Finally, others received pay for supplying the San Carlos agency and
military pérsonnel with crops, wood, and hay. With the end of the
Indian wars in the Southwest in 1886, many soldiers were withdrawn
and thé demand for laborers was reduced. By 1888 it had become obvious
that the plans for making the San Carlos Indians self-sufficient had
failed. |

‘Ten years later relief came to the San Carloé Indian Reserva-
tion, and a 'mew economic era waé inangurated" (Adams 1971:119), 1In
1898 a railroéd was constructed across the reservation and many Apaches.
were employed as laborers, By 1901 an increasing number of Apaches
were employed to work in mining, and in the following year more Apaches
were hired to work on road construction. Agent Corson (1903:161-162)
in 1902 reported that there were large parties of Apaches working on
roads near Bowie and Globe. However, he also noted that frequently -
when an Apache would get "tired" he would simply return to the reser-
vation. It seeﬁs more likely that Apaches working off the reservation
becamé "homesick"Aand for this feason returned to their relatives.,
Corson (1903:162) believed that éince it was possible for the Apaches
to exist on rations this encouraged them to qﬁit their off-reservation
jobs when the work got too hard. Therefore, Corson proposed that at
the end df June rationing be stopped. .

For thé Apaches on the San Carlos reservation, the situétion
was serious in 1902. A severe drought occurred and few crops matured,

In addition, the Apaches were in fear of losing their rations. They
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argued that '"the Government had promised that as long as they stayed on
the reservation they should have rations, and that if rations were
taken away they would not stay on the reservation any longer" (Corson
1903:162)., Instead, they said they would be forced to go into the
mountains and live off mes&al, roots, and nuts as before (Corson 1903:
162).

Tndians living near the San Carlos agency between 1881 and 1902
were also afflicted with disease. In'1883lWilcox (1883:9) observed
that the major health problems among the Indians at San Carlos Qere
"due to licentious habits" (probably syphilis‘and gonorrhea), and that
these were eépecially prevalent among the Yuma, Mohave, and Tonto
Apaches., The next year saw much of the same. Wilcox (1884:9) con-
cluded that ''diseases common to hot climates, miasmatic bottom 1ands;
impure water and unrestrained license in social life" prevailed.

With the establishment of schools in 1887 the incidence of
communicable diseases increased. In 1892 an epidemié of whooping cough
amoﬁg the pupils at San Carlos necessitated a temporéry closure of fhe
school (Johnsqn 1892:222). The school was again closed in 1897 becauée
of & measles epidemic (Myer 1897:112-113). Shortly after the turn of
the century tuberculosis had reached epidemic proportions.

On the San Carlos reservation, among a population of a little
more than 3,000, there occurred from 1901 to 1903 . . « 255
deaths, of which 95, or over 36 perccent, were due to dif-
ferent forms of tuberculosis. The writer found tuberculosis
glands or recent scars due to them in more than 6 per cent
of the school children at San Carlos (Hrdlicka 1908:176).

The Apaches at San Carlos were also faced with the threat of a

shrinking reservation. In 1893, 1896, and 1902 large areas of land
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were removed from the eastern, southern, and western sides of the ori-
ginal reservation and were restored to public domain (Getty 1963:8).

Less than a month after the Battle of Cibecue agent Tiffany
- (1881:9) noted that a number of Anglos were crowding into the areas
around the reservation., These miners, Mormon farmers and ranchers were
attracted to the land because of its rich mineral deposits and fine
‘water and grézing lands. This was "exasperafing to the Indians who
rhavé formerly seen large tracts cut off from its original boundaries . .
for the benefit of the whites" (Tiffany 1881:9). Encroachment upon
Apache land continued. By 1892 matters had gotten so bad that égent
Johnson (1892:221) reported that to keep frespassing stock off the
reserfation required not only constant vigilance but diligent efforts
on the part‘of the agenéy employees, the Indian police, and the Indians
acting as posses.

While Apaches living at San Carlos prior to 1881 had experi-
enced stress because of major economic changes, disease, and loss of
land, between 1881 and 1902 they'were'exppsed to additioﬁal pressures,
Between 1870 and 1880 drinking was reported as a serious problem at
San Carlos (Clum.l875:216), but was also reported to have been effec-

tively controlled by prohibition (Clum 1876:10), During the next

twenty-five years the Apache's consumption of tiswin or tufpai came

to be considered by Anglos a major proﬁlem. As mentioned earlier,
drinking was the immediate cause of Geronimo's fieeing the reservation
in 1884, In 1888 agent Bullis at San Carlos bemoaned the excessive

use of the liquor among White Mountain, San Carlos, Coyotero, and
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Tonto Apaches. For several years drinking had been identified as the
major cause of strife, fighting, and discontent among the reservation
Indians (Pierce 1886:40)., Bullis (1888:7) reported that he was exer-
cising the "utmost vigilence'" and employing all means at his command
"to suppress the making and use of tiswin." However, his methods were
less than effective, for in 1908 Hrdlicka (1908:31) reported that
drunkehness due to tiswin and liquors introduced by Whites was preva-
lent as was social disorder associated with drinking. ;

During this period Anglos were making a concerted effort to
acculturate the Apaches. While many White officials felt that schools
were needed at San Carlos, Indian Agent Wilcox strongly opposed such
suggestions. He believed that only after the Indians ''ceased to be
nomads" would formal education work.

On the reservation no school can be so conducted as to remove
the children from the influence of the idle and vicious who
are everywhere present. Only by removing them beyond the
reach of this influence can they be benefited by the teaching
of the school-master. To this course there is now being
offered a stubborn resistance by the parents, many of whom,
previous to the return of the Chiricahuas, had promised to
give up children for eastern schools, but who, since coming
under the pernicious influence of that dominant tribe, have
found objections that before had not occurred to them. If
the Government would 1lift the Apaches from the sloth of ig-
norance and loathsome degradation in which they now wallow,
compulsory education must be resorted to. Under the strong
hand of the law or force they must be taught to labor sys-
‘tematically, and when it becomes necessary to educate the
rising generations in the mysteries of books, force should
compell them to accept the situation (Wilcox 1883:9).

The next year Wilcox sent fifty-two Apaches from San Carlos to

a school in Carlisle, Pennsylvania. Overcome with homesickness several

youths eventually fled, one of them getting as far as central Missouri
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before being forced to turn himself over to Carlisle authorities (Pratt
1886:19). By 18384 wilcox (1884:9) had concluded that formal eduéation
for boys might begin on the San Carlos Reservation. In 1887 a grade
school was opened, and by the next year agent Bullis (1888:8) reported
it was filled by forty boys who were said to be enjoying themselves so
much that they often chose to stay at school during their vacations
rather than return to their homes. Howéver, Wilcox also reported that
many -Apache parents refusgd,to send. their children to .school. .By tﬁe
turn of the century the scﬁool at San Carlqs accommodated 100 students..
But school superintendent Wright (1899:168) noted the continuous pres-
ence>of opposition to nonreservation schooling.

Besides trying to ''civilize" the Apaches at San Carios there
were missionaries thgre trying to "save"}thém. The need for mission-
aries among the Apaches was first noted in 1880, and for the next sev-
eral years church services and Bible school were held for agency
employees (Tiffany 1880:6; 1881:8). In 1893 the first_missionaries;
John Plocher and George Adascheck, representing the Evangélical
Luéheran Church, arrived at San Carlos. Missionary Adascheck was re-
called in 1894 at his own request because of his difficulties with
both the English and Apache languages. Plocher remained. He gave
religious instruction twice weekly to some 100 children of the govern-
ment day and boarding schools at San Carlos. He also devoted much
time to his own small school at Peridot which was attended by ten to-

twelve students (Myer 1896:126). Plocher spent the remainder of his
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time bringing the Gospel to the Apaches in their éamps (Centennial
Committee 1951:233).

In 1899 Reverend Plocher was forced to leave the Southwest due
to his wife's failing health. The fruits of his six years labor con-
sisted of four baptisms and an attendance of twenty in'his school
(Centehnial Committee 1951:233). Plocher was succeededvby Reverend
Carl Guenther in 1900. Guenther served the newly constructed boarding

~school-at what later became known as. Rice, Bésides preaching to school
children, Guenther frequently rode on horseback over an area of about
fifty miles, preaching and doctoring the sick. An assistant, Rudolf
Jens, who arrived in 1900 to help Guenther, died in 1903.

Meanwhile, the Indian agents were trying hard to rid the Apache
of their tréditional religious leaders., This opposition to ﬁedicine
men was undoubtedly a result of the parts played by men such as Noch-
ay-del-klinne and Geronimo in the Apache wars. It was also in keeping
with a largér federal policy to suppress Indian religious beliefs. At
San Carlos Agent Johnson (1892:220) statéd that he was discouraging
the practices of medicine men and as a result their influence was de-
clining. Reports to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for the next
several years reiterated this theme.

Apaches living near the San Carlos agency between 1831 and 1902
ekperienced directly the results of Anglo assimilation policies. As in
the earlier period, following the traditional seminomadic subsistence
pattern was impossible, and rationing and work programs offered little

relief. Disease was widespread, and the threat of land loss was
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persistent, In addition, drinking was suppressed by agency and mili-
tary personnel, and educational and religiqus programs Qere introduced.
Tﬁe situation among the White Mountain Apaches living near Fort
Apache and Cibecue was somewhat different. Apaches living near Cibecue
were allowed to return to their traditional hunting, gathering, and
agricultural practices. However, since théy were not able to wander
as extensively as they once had, they qould'make only a meager living
and were cdnstantly under -the watchful eye of -subagency personnel. who
had been sent to Cibecue after the conflict of 1881 (Basso 1969:20).
Like other Indians on the Fort Apache Indian Reservation the residents
of Cibecue drew no rations (Bullis 1888:8).
Economic conditions among White Mountain Apaches living near
Fort Apache-were little better than at Cibecue. Mayerhoff (n.d.) hoted
that between 1896 and 1904 the Apaches roamed the hills-for food, hunt-
.ing, gathering, and collectingAwhatever they could find. However, they
were not able to roam as widely as they once did. In addition, due to
increased exploitation of game by agency and military personnel sta-
tioned at Fort Apache such a subsistence pattern "was onl& another way
of élow starvation" (Mayefhoff ne.d.). Besides hunting and gathering,
the Apaches had been encouraged to take up farming. Corn was their
_mainstay during these years} However, this was not totally successful,
in part because the Apaches needed more tools. In 1884 Robert Frazer
visited the Fort Apache Ihdian Reservation with the task of observing
the Apaches and reporting his findings to the Executive Committee of

the Indian Rights Association. He recorded that the Coyotero (White
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Mountain) Apaches had only one wagon issued to them but that they re-
quired a minimum of twenty (Frazer 1885:16). They were issued twenty-
four sickles but they needed 500.
Besides agricultural pursuits the White Mountain Apaches were
engouraged to accumulate herds of animals. However, this was not an
easy task since many of the Apaches were forced to butcher their horses

and cattle for food. To make matters worse, there was severe corrup-

tion among Anglos who supplied the cattle. For example, a contract was

made with an Arizona cattleman named Henry Hooker to deliver 1,000 head
of cattle. He purchased "an inferior kind of Mexican cattle" and by
the time 596 head were delivered numerous objections had been raised
_about their quality. Chief Alchesay remarked about the cattle given
him:
"« o » the Great Father sent him up a lot: some were year-
lings, others were older than this world, and had not a
tooth in their heads. It was wonderful we got them up here.

Those that did not die of cold, died of foot disease or
hunger because they had no teeth to eat with (Frazer 1885:

17).

Alchesay received fifteen cattle and turned them out to pasture. Three
| were dead the next morning. After the fourth day twelve had died. The
remaining three went wild and were caught by Mormons when they crossed
6ver the reservation boundary line. Similar losses were felt by most
of the Indians who received cattle (Fraier 1885:17-18),

As a final economic alternative, there were varioﬁs jobs which
the White Mountain Apaches could take to earn wages. The Indians were
encouraged to engage in the sale of hay, firewood, and other resources

desired or needed by military and agency personnel. Many Apaches,
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especially those living near Fort Apache, did supply‘the post with tons
of firewood and hay (Bullis 1889:122; Johnson 1893:121; C. Keyes 1898;
1173 Regan 1930:296-297). The money earned in this way was often
secured by unscrupulous traders. By 1885 the Indians had acéuired a
taste for commodities such as coffee, ca1i¢o, Anglo-style clothing, and
tobacco., The traders charged the Apaches excessively high prices. For
example, the commissary at Fort Apaché sold coffee a£ thirteen cents
per poundg Apaches bought coffee- from the traders for forty cents per
pound; The commissary sold Durham'smoking tobacco for under twenfy-
two pents per half pound. The Indians paid traders fifty cents for the
same amount (Frazer 1885:19-20).

Even with hunting, gatheriné? agriculture, herding, and wage
labor the Abaches were barely surviﬁing. Mayerhoff (ned.) described
them between 1896 and 1904 as making a "meager living," (C.Keyes 1898:
117) as "'very poor," and Armstrong (1899:150) as "starving."

During this period the White Mountain Apaches also suffered
from various diseases. In 1896 a smallpox epidemic struck, forcing
the dispersal of the Apaches (Evereft 1971:73)., In 1897 there was a
measles epidemic (Myer 1897:114). A feﬁ years later scarlet fever
sﬁept the reservation. The Indians were reported to have been "fright-
.ened;to death!" and infected areas were rapidly abandoned (Mayerhoff
ned.). Other diseases prevalent during these years were pneumonia,
influenza, diarrhea, cho}era, trachoma and other eye diseases (Everett
1971:73; Regan 1930:314). Gonorrhea and syphilis were also presgnt

(Regan 1930:314). Finally, tuberculosis was appearing more and more
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frequently. Agent Armstrong (1900:190) reported that lung diseases
were responsible for the deaths of.many children and young people,

As was the case at San Carlos, the White Mountain Apaches were
faced with the problems of Anglo encroachment upon reéervation land.
Ahglo ranchers to the north of the reservation frequently took advan-
tage of Apache grazing lands, a problem that agency personnel were
virtually powerless to prevent or control (Johnson 1892:221; 1893:123#
Co Keyes 1898:119; Myer 1895:113).

- Military and agency persomnel waged a relentless war against
Indian drinking during this period. In 1888 agent Bullis (1888:7)
noted that the Apache werebmaking large quantities of tu¥pai, but that
he was employing methods whiéh wduld hopefully put a stop to this prac-
tice. In 1892 it was reported that the Apaches near Fort Apache were
excessively indulging in tu¥pai (Johnson 1892:220). The agents were
soon forced to admit that it was iﬁpossible to stop the drinking be-
cause of the Apache's "foving habits and the comparative seclusion of
their camps in the woods" (Johnson 1893:122). Besides tuXpai, the
Apaches were receiving liquor from off the reservation (C. Keyes 1898:
119).

The reasons for such strong opposition to drinking stemmed from
the assumption that it was the major cause of strife, fighting, dis-
content, immorality, as well as a contributor to disease (Regan 1930:
298). It was believed that only when drinking had been wiped out could
"progress' be made., In order to control the manufacture and consump-

tion of tufpai firm measures were taken. Keyes reports:
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There have been a great many conditions for tiswin making,

this being general among all the Indians. I found it being
made in almost every camp when I came here; even the little .
children had acquired the habit of drinking it. I instituted
a vigorous warfare on it by raiding camps day and night. In
every case where tiswin was found it was destroyed, together
with the cans used in its manufacture. All persons found in
the camps were compelled to work time at the agency or saw-
mill. In this manner, by constant vigilance, the manufacture
of tiswin has been reducéd to a minimum. It has not been en-
tirely stopped, but where on my first raids it was found
openly in large quantities it is now confined to small quan-

_tities, made in some isolated retreat in the mountains, away
from the probable search of the police. Even these places

-are often raided, and it has had-the effect of reducing the- -
manufacture to such an extent that I am well pleased with the
results (C. Keyes 1898:117).

vHowever, the agent who followed Keyes admitted that "If the conditions
- for tisﬂin making have ever been changed or checked to any perceptible
degree it must have vanished just before my arrival here' (Armstrong
1899:152).

Formal education among the White Mountain Apache began in
December of 1891 when a small day school was épened in one of the‘bar-
racks at Fort Apache (E. E. Guenther 1941:222).  It was not, however,
until January 1894 that school buildings were.built to accommodate
pupils (Jackson 1895:115). By May of that &ear it was noted that sev-
eral of the twenty-eight students were suffering from sore eyes,
possibly trachoma (Jackson 1895:115). In January of 1895 the school
was closed to make necessary repairs (Jackson 1896:129) and because of
illness (E. E. Guenther 19&1:223). The school reopened but was closed
again in 1897 because of measles (Myer 1897:114).

By 1899 it had become obvious that attendance in school could

be maintained only by compulsory measures (Patterson 1899:153). In
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addition, the agency personnel were unable to persuade students to
attend nonreservation schools (Armstrong 1900:189:190). In 1901 many
of the students who were weak from an earlier influenza epidemic con-
tracted colds and lung'troubles. Several died (Pétterson'l902:179).

By 1902 Anglo officials realized that attempts to educate the
White Mountain Apache were being directly countered and opposed.

The Indian medicine man and the grandmother are the cause

of most of the opposition to the schools. Last year the school
here was unfortunate in having several severe cases of la
grippe, and three or four of the pupils died. When I under-
took to reorganize the school on the 1lst of September I was
surprised to find almost universal opposition; and all of our
efforts in kindness and persuasion availed nothing; I was

- compelled to resort to force, and every pupil was returned to

. the school by the police (Crouse 1903:149),

Meanwhile, parents were devising various means to keep their
children out of school. Regan (1930:313-314) noted that children had
to pass physical examinations in order to be admitted to school. About
two weeks before school started in the fall, parents and medicine men
had "medicine dances" which exhausted the children. This was supposed
to make the children medicine-proof against the "white man's ways and
medicines." Sometimes children were dipped in cold waters of the
crecks and many became too sick to be admitted to school. Another
mechanism of keeping children out of school was to report that they
were dying. Regan (193%0:314) reported an incident that occured when
he started to descend by horseback into a canyon near Canyon Creek and
saw two Apache children playing in the fields below. When Regan
reached the canyon bottom the children's mother reported that they

were sick with pneumonia and could not go to school. Regan rode on,
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then circied back to discover the children playing again. Two days.
later the children were in the Fort Apache boarding school. | |

There appear to have been several reasons why the Apache were
trying to keep their children out of school. First, many of the pupils
became siék at school and several died., Second, there were economic
reasons, Children were needed by their parents to collect hay which
they were in turn selling at the post, Finélly, there was the fear
- that children who were out of the reach of théir parents would soon . _.
cease to be Apaches and would become Anglos instead,

The White Mountain Apache during this period were also con-
fronted by a Lutheran missionary. In June, 1896, Reverend Paul Mayer-
hoff arrived in the White Mountains and settled near East Fork a few
miles from Fort Apache. By his own admission he was looked upon with
considerable suspicion. Few Indiané at that time could speak English,
whicﬁ made his.job that much harder. Many Indians thought he was just
another ‘White man and tended to disreéard his teachings (J. Keyes 1936:
488). Other Apaches were strong in their opposifion to Christianity.
Mayerhoff (n.d.) noted that he Qas continually confronted with the
attitude that the White man's God was good for Anglos, but the Apaches'
gods were sufficient for their needs. There were those, however, who
listened to his teﬁchings; especially the members of Alchesay's Sand,
but only after Mayerhoff had learned to speak Apache.

Besides providing religious instruction to the sixty childreﬁ
at the Fort Apache boarding school, Mayerhoff built a small school at

East Fork and by 1902 had twenty in attendance (Brown 1963:81), In
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 that same year he received an assistant, Otto Schoenberg, wholserved
as the school teacher and thus allowed Mayerhoff time to visit the
Apaches in their camps. By this time the pastor was no 1oﬁger con-
sidered a threat by the majority of the Apaches. Although from a
statistical standpoint his work was not terribly productive he did
lay the groundwork for futurevfriendly relations between the White
Mountain Apaches and the Wisconsin Evangelical Lutheran missionaries.

Mayerhoff and Schoenberg, rather than opposing the teachingé
and pracfices of the medicine men and theif religion, were contéﬁt to
simply present the teachings of Christianity, assuming that the Holy
Spirit would open the Apaches' minds. - However, the.government person-
nel felt differently and attempted to supplant the Apache religion by
opposing the medicine men (Crouse 1903:149), In addition, the agents
fought a relentless battle trying.to eradicate the native Apache dress
- which they felt was connected with '"un-progressive' elements such as
the medicine men.

| Thus, between 1881 and 1902 the Apacheg on the San Carlos and

Fort Apache Indian reservations were forced to alter consi&erabiy‘the
pattern of their lives. The reservation situation made traditional
hunting and gathering practices unworkable. Disease was widesﬁread,
land loss occurred, drinking for forcefully opposed, formal education
was made mapdatory, and Christianity was introduced.

During the years of the dazodiXa' movement (1903-1907) the

situation grew worse for the Apaches on both the San Carlos and Fort
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Apache reservations. The trends of the preceding decade continued and
seemed to have deepening effects.

At San Carlos the economic situation forced a reorienfation.
As previously mentioned, in 1902 a drought destroyed the Apaches' crops,
and in 1903 rationing was discontinued. The next year the San Carlos
reservation suffered again under a drought which thwarfed agricultural
production. Then, too, Anglo farmers along the upper Gila Valley were
taking out large amounts of water, leaving ohly a limited supply for
the reservation. In July and Augusf, however, violent storms producea
tremendouévflooding (Kelly 1905:152-153). By January of'léOS heavy
rains returned, this time destroying irrigation canals (Kelly 1966a:
176). As a result some of the Apaches reverted to dry farming and were
able to pro&uce small crops of barley, wheat, corn, melons, and beans
(Keliy 1906b:190). Because of the problems inhereﬁt wifh irrigation
agriculture, many Indians turned to other economic alternétives, par-
ticularly wage labor. When rationing ceased several Apaches were able
to find employment working on failroads, roads, or dams. Most of these
laborers worked off the rese;vation and frequently took their families
with them (Adams 1971:120). By 1905 the lure of wage labor off the
reservation was so great that the labor pool of able~bodied men on the
reservation had been depleted (Kelly 1905:152:153), However, Apaches
working off the reservation frequehtly became homesick and periodically
returned to the reservation (Adams 1971:122-123),

Meanwhile, Anglos were having difficulties with educating the

Apaches. Missionaries were often unable to provide teachers for their
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schools (Centennial Committee 1951:235-236), and the government
teachers were meeting with little success. During vacations the Indi-
ans reverted to their old customs and life styles (Kelly 1905:151).

In addition, sickness led to a high level of absenteeism (Weeks 1906:
192).

During these years the situation on the Fort Apaché Reservation
was little different., In 1904 the drought destroyed crops and the dry
’conditién'contributed to-forest . fires whicﬁ bufned,75,000 acres of
land. Later, in 1904 and 1905, heavy flooding destroyed irrigation
ditches and caused considerable erosion (Crouse 1906a:159-160). Con=-
sequently many Apacheé reverted back to their semi-nomadic gathering,
collectiﬁg,-énd hunting subsistence patterns., Attempts were made to
educate theVApaches to care for livestock but the& proved to be less
successful than anticipatede. -Agent Crouse (1904:117) expressed his
frustration with Apache herders.

For example, Indian herders, after having been carefully

instructed, are sent to watch the flock of sheep and the

herd of cattle; they soon become weary of such quiet work

and go hunting, thus leaving the calves and lambs exposed

to the wild animals, and the result is a 10SSe « « o
In addition, many Apaches who claimed to be hunting were stealing
cattle from herds illegally grazing on the reservation. The cattle
were butchered for meat (Crouse 1904:117).

Between 1903 and 1907 disease was also widespread on the Fort
Apache Reservation, Diarrhea, cholera, and pneumonia took their toll

on the Apaches. There was also an epidemic of influenza in 1904. The

major chronic disease was tuberculosis. Crouse (1905:134) reported
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that this disease claimed a victim almost every month. Of the 563
school age children, 150 were unfit physically to attend school (Crouse
1905:13%2).

Finally, as had been the case in previous years, formal edu-’
cation was being opposed by medicine men, grandparents (especially
maternal grandmothers), and parents.  Agent Crouse (1906b:173), for
example, estimated that ninety-five percent of the Apaches did not
~want schooling of any kind. From the agent's perspective the main
hindrance to '"eivilization" was the medicine man. ''The medicine man
is usually the shrewdest man of the band, and he combats the schools,
for intelligence is against his business" (Crouse 1904:118). In addi~-
tion, medicine men encouraged the Apaches to wear traditional clothing
which was also viewed as "non-progressive.!" In spite of this opposition
from Apaches, schools were introduced into the Cibecue area. In 1904,
after considerable persistence and persuasion, classes began (Olson
1905:135). Also by 1904 it had become obvious to agency personnel that
the medicine man was a symbol for the Apaches of their traditional cul=-
ture (McGhie 1905:135), Consequently, the agents began making plans
to rid the reservations of medicine men.

The Indian medicine man is a menace to civilization or

training in any useful industry, He is usually the shrewdest
or most cunning Indian of the tribe., He teaches that the
school will transform the Indian into some other nationalitys
that their children when they become trained by white people
will not have any respect for their parents. The worst

phase of this wild Indian teaching is in the evil predictions;
and their people do not seem to lose faith in them because of
their many failures, for a reason for the failure is usually

given that satisfies the other Indians. The other Indians
are afraid to testify against these medicine men, fearing
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that sickness and death would be the penalty for such testi-
mony. The superintendent or bonded officer should be author-
ized to send these Indian agitators away to live with some
tribe where they would have none of this bad influence, when,
in his judgment, such action is necessary for the good govern-
ment of the Indians for whom he is charged in management
(Crouse 1905:133), :

The Dayodiya! Prophets

The religious cult movement known as dayodiya' can be traced
back to one man -- a Cibecue‘Apache named Daslahdn (Goodwin and Kéut
1954:390). Unfortunately very little is known about him. His name was
derived from the Apache word daYa'aadn, which means 'once' or 'first.!
Daslahdn was a medicine man in 1903% when dalodiia"began. He may«havé
.possessed '1ightning power! (Goodwin aﬁd Kaut 1954:390). Although
Daslahdn was from Cibecue and conducted most of his ceremonies there,
he was acquainted with Apaches living ét San Carlos. Not long after
daxodixaf began he held a dance on the southern reservation. This
dance was attended by Apaches from Rice and Bylas, and it is possible
that Daslahdn's wife had relatives>in one or hoth of these communi-
ties. After this ceremony he returned to Cibecue and continued to
conduct daxodixa' ceremonies there for thé next two years. In 1906,
with his influence waning, Daslahdn, believing he could return from
the dead, had his followers cut off his head (Goodwin and Kaut 195k4:
393-394).

. Shortly after Daslahdn held'his}first dance at San Carlos the
movement was picked up Ey another medicine man named Big John. His

Apache name was nant'an diigohaat'i' which means 'chief, four rising

up' (like four strings rising up from the ground in four places)
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a name possibly referring to a place about which he had dreamed (Good-
win and Kaut 1954:395). Big John was also known as Big Low John or
" Bigalow Johns. He was born.on Sepfember 15, 1879, according to the
government's census. Later, Big John attended the Indian School at
Rice for two or three years. Sometime before 1903 'lightning power!
sought him out and he became amedicine man at an early age (Goodwin
and Kaut 1954:403). In 1903 he was living near Calva, or Bylas, when
he witnessed thé'daiodiXa"éeremOny'conduCted by Daslahdn near Cassé—'.
dore Sﬁrings. He adopfed the doctrine of the movement and for the
next féur years became one of its major préponents. He was married to
a San Carlos Apache woman, butvsometime near the end of the movement
he abandoned her and married his brdther's widow who was living near
Canyoﬁ Day én the Fort Apache Iﬁdian Resefvatidn.l Sometime in thé
closing months of 1906, or early in 1907, Big John stopped conducting
daxodi&a' ceremonies because several dayodiya' medicine men had died.
He felt that if he continued withrthe dances he might also die. Under
considerable criticism from the San Carlos Apaches for divorcing his
wife, he moved in 1910 or 1911 to Canyon Day where he.lived with his
new wife's relatives. Even though predictions Big John had made  about
~ the end of the world in connection with da;odi;a' did not come true,
the medicine man‘was not held in disrepute. Shoftly after arriving at

Canyon Day the White Mountain Apaches asked him to use high 'lightning

1. Big John's living relatives insist that his decision to
marry his brother's widow was in compliance with Apache custom. Good-
win (1942:358-363) has noted that Apaches frequently did adhere to the
levirate. ‘
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power'! for good - to conduct ceremonials for the sick, especially
those with tuberculosis and for those whose camps had been s#ruck by
lightning. This Big John didvand continued to do. He was also highly
_respected by San Carlos Apaches. .In 1930 he was summoned.to Bylas to.
coﬁduct a céremony for a man whose house had been strﬁck by lightning
(Goodwin and Kaut 1954:403). The songs, sand paintings, hoop dances,
and herb treatments he used to cure the sick were given to him by his
'power,' and throughout his life he granted‘others'permission to use
his songs. Big John died peacefully in 194k,

Besides Daslahdn and Big John, several other medicine men
began to conduct daxodixa' ceremonies in 1905 (Goodwin and Kaut 195k:
393). In the San Carlos area these included Charley Moccasin's older
brother, Paﬁl Nosey, and C. F. 38. Although.all three medicine men

" conducted their own dances and sang theirvown songs they were, never-
theless, under the leadership of Big John (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:393),
Little else is known about these medicine men. Charley Moccasin's
older brother was described as a "medicine-boy at Dewey Flat" (Goodwin
and.Kaut 1954:393), Apache consultants told Goodwin that aithough he
and Paul Nosey were not old enough to get married they both did after
getting involved in dayodiya' (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:397). Both
Charley Moccasin's brother and Paul Nosey died in 1907 or 1908 (Goodwin
and Kaut 1954:394), |

,Goodwin and Kaut (1954) reported that on the Fort Apéche Indian
Reservation there were two other medicine men conducting daxodiXa'

ceremonies besides Daslahdn. Almost nothing is known of these men.
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One was from East Fork, the other from Cedar Creek. Both appear to
have had 'lightning power' and each added his own songs to the
daxodixa‘ repetoire., Both of these medicine men died shortly after the

beheading of Daslahdn.

lzé ;ogg' :\]ég t

The Apaéhe word daxodiza' is the name given the White Mountain
Apache religious cult movement which flourighedrbetwegnrl9037andr19067”
Da;odiXa' means 'rising upward,! and summarizes in a compact.way the
major doctrine expressed by the various medicine men involved (Goodwin
1938:34).

| The movement itself waé started by the Cibecue medicine man,

Daslahdnf' The basic doctrine which he and subsequent dayodiya' medi-
cine men proclaimed was a propheﬁy. The followers of the movement
(i.e., those who participated in the dances, believed.in‘their éfficacy,
were "good,",and obeyed the medicine men's directions) would be raised
up into the sky in a cloud. After this a great flood or earthquake
would purge fhe earth of its evil. The followers would then be set
back on the rejuvenated earth where they wduid live in peace and
plenty (Goodwin 1938:35; Goodwin and Kaut 1954),

Exactly when Daslahdn began conducting daxodixa' ceremonies in
1903 is unknown. After holding several ceremonies at Cibecue, Daslahdn
and his wife visited the San Carlos Indian Reservation in the summer or
early fall of 1903. There, near Cassadora Springs, he held a danceA

which was attended by Apaches from Rice and Bylas. The medicine man
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lined up the people from Rice with their chief, Norman Cassador, first,
then older men and women, and finally younger people and children.
Holding hadntin, Cassador danced near the fire. He then led his people
in dancing four times. Then Apaches from Bylas followed in similar
fashion their chief, a man called C. G. 9. About midnight the Rice
Apaches danced again, this time with each person holding hadntin in his
or her right hand. The Bylas dancers followed suit. Two more times
during the night each group danced. Prayers were spoken and chanted
as hadntin was thrown on the medicine man and singers.

'Nabandi means putting the pollen on the medicine-man.
We did not use pollen though when we just prayed by our-
selves, but when we prayed to the medicine-man we used pol-
len. We were not praying to the medicine-man alone. We
prayed to all medicine-men attending and the singers, as
well as. the other dancers. So it was a prayer for all of
us. We did not say any words as we prayed. Those fellows
knew what the throwing of the pollen meant (Goodwin and
Kaut 1954:400).
While the people danced, Daslahdn sang. He started by singing
gogosi ("songs which by telling stories about mythical characters in-
1 . . .
sure prosperity and well-~being'')s. Next he sang diyisi ("personal songs
. T 1 )
of great power given to the medicine-man by the Lightning People"
/Goodwin and Kaut 1954:390/). Finally, in the morning he sang four
more songs from the goﬂbsi corpus,. '
t
Daslahdn held one more dance at Bylas at the end of August,
then he returned to Cibecue. There he gained more followers.
Meanwhile in November of 1903, a lightning medicine man, Big

John from the San Carlos Indian Reservation, began to conduct daxodixa'

ceremonies. Messengers informed the Apaches that a dance was going to
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be held across the river from Calva, and that it would be similar to
Daslahdn's but would bg preceded by sﬁeat baths. The sweat bath was
about seven feet in diameter.2 It had four doors, each one facing one
of the cardinal directions. Before the dance there was a large meal.
Then the men went into the sweat bath. Before the dance began, Big
John took four hoops -~ one black, one biue, one yellow, and one white
-- and threw them into the air. They fell,'oveflapping one another and
forming a chain. Big John announced that because of this configuration
of hoops- it was possible to continue witﬁ the dan&e.

The ceremonial itself was a combination 6f the novel daxodixa’
dance and a traditional "soéial dance,'" In the former, four girls'withv
baskets of hadntin continually sprinkled the contents while men and
women danded separately. Then the girls distriﬁuted hadntin to the
dancers who prayed with it. Social dances were traditionally held for
the entertainment of thoSé participating and provided Opfortunities for
dancers to display their danciﬁg expertise, While Big John permitted
the four girls carrying Hadntin to participate.in the social danég, he
insisted that they dance.with their baskets (Goodwin and Kaut 195:
399-400)., The next morning Big John announéed that the people should
assemble in three days for another dance and at three day intervals

from then on (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:391),

2. Sweat baths about half this size were commonly used by the
Apaches. '"Sweat-baths were taken to get clean; to get clean was to
become ceremonially ''ready;' to be ceremonially "ready" was to think
good thoughts, a property of the mind considered essential for success-
ful participation in ritual activities" (Basso personal communication

1976).
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¥While Big John was conducting dances on the San Carlos Indian
Reservation, one medicine man at East Fork and another at Cedar Creek
were also conducting daxodixa' ceremonies among the White Mountain
Apaches. Although there is little available information on these
dances; it is clear that the movement gained most of its following on.
the Fort Apache Indian Reservation (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:401). Con-
temporary Apache consultants recall that the East Fork and Cedar Creek
" medicine men told participants that after they had adopted a new mode
of dress they wouid be taken up in a cloud while dancing. The Apaches
were to wear moccasins, not shoes. The men were to wear white drawers,
white éhirts, white G~strings, black vests and medicine caps. Women
Qere to wear white dresses and white blouses. Clothing was to bg
© clean. Two.reasons for wearing white clothing were given. First, it
was appr0prigte for people entering into the holy realm., Second, it
was the color of traditional Apache clothing -- tanned deerskin was
almost white. Under no circumstances were the followers to wear Anglo
clothing. V"He never told us why he wanted it this way except that
maybe if we were dressed like white men we might get left behing!
(Goodwin and Kaut 1954:395), Finally, men and women were encouraged
to adorn the fronts of their shirts and blouses with silver pendants.
These pendants took the form 6f a Ccross attached to a crescent moon,
below which hung four or five conchos (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:391-392).

Not long after the East Fork.and Cedar Creek medicine men
introduced the dress code for daiodixa' followers, it was adopted by

Big John on the San Carlos Indian Reservation. In 1905 Big John issued
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another injunction. Every woman attending a dance was to bring three |
baskets: a tus (loosely woven basket covered with pitch apd used for
carrying watér), a tats'aa (large deep basket used for carrying bur-
dens of corn and other food), and a ts'aa' (flat bowl-like basket used
for serving food or for ceremonial occasions). The baskets would be
used in the world where the Apaches were going after they. were '"raised
up" (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:392, 396).

On certain occasions Big John himself led his followers in a
new dance. He stood in front of them with two girls holding baskets
of hadntin, one on each sidé.of him. Behind him men and boys, and
women and girls lined up. Singing as he went, Big John led the lines
on a twisted course that represented the movements of a snake (Goodwin
and Kaut 195#:400). Three of the songsihe sang while dancing this way

have been preserved and are presented here,

ni?gosdzan na"he’s'na’ na"he“s'na’
earth it moves it moves

e o« » it means that the earth is moving with new life. It was
what we were dancing for.

ya'diY xiX na"he’s'na’ ) na‘he“s'na”
black sky it moves it moves

« o o it means that the sky had new life and was mov1ng about
just as the earth was. « « «

ya sizi® a sizi® ba’yada Yi”igo
sky stinding sky stinding they are talking
about it (sky is
being talked about)
This means that lots of people have been talking about the
sky; holding all this ceremony about it (Goodwin and Kaut 1954
Loz-403).

The words of the song make reference to the major tenets of

da;odixa'. The sky was to grow dark. Those who believed in the
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movement would be raised off the earth in a cloud. Evil people would
be left behind. Meanwhile, the earth would be changed; it would be
rejuvenated. Then those who had been raised up would be lowered back
onto the earth where they would live in a good land With plenty of
food, no illnesé, and no death (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:393, 396, LOL4).

Big John apparently stated that the new world was for the use
of "good people! whether White, Mexican, or Apache. Kaut, however,
believes that this statement may have been made "explicitly for the
benefit of the missionaries and reservation authorities who could still
look back at the events of the '"eighties and be suspicious about the
* intent of elaborate feligious ceremonies" (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:389).

Sometime in 1905 three other médicine men began performing
daaodixa' céremonies on the San Carlos Indian Reservation. As meﬁ-
tioned earlier, they were Charley Moccasin's oldest brother from Dewey
Flat, Paul Nosey, and C. F. 38.. While performing their own sonés fhey
were 5till under the direction of Big John.

By 1905'most of the medicine men involved in daaodi{a‘ had
disciples. Big John is known to have had six. The Cedar Creek medi-
cine man had twelve. Tasks performed by these disciples were varied.
They encouraged the people to listen to the medicine man and to obey
his commands; they policed the dance grounds to make sure no youths
took advantage of the dance for illicit meetings. They also instruc-
ted the participants, telling them what to do, and when. Finally, the
disciples conveyed messages from the medicine man to the crowd and

helped him in the singing (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:394-395, 40O,
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463—404).' Big John was reported to have spoken in an.ordinary tone of
voice to one of his disciples who in>turn shouted the words to the
crowd (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:394),

As the movement progressed, new elements were added by the
various medicine men. The practice of giving da;odixe' participants
new names was probably 1ntroduced by the medicine men on the Fort
Apache Reservatlon. While some of the names made reference to physical -
characteristics ofwinéividﬁals; or to theii secial an& eeoﬁomicretfrier
butes, most did not. Names given to women frequently included-the
Apache word for "white shell,' while most of those given to men in-
cluded the Apache word "turquoise.'" The white shell and turquoise were
ceremonial items traditionally associated with the sexes. '""The reason
for g1v1ng ﬁew names was the same as why all the people were ordered to
dress in new clothes. It was so that no connection with the past would
exist" (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:396),

The Cedar Creek medicine man introduced‘otherknew'elements into.
.daxodixa'. For a while sociai dancing was stopped and only daxpdiXa'
ceremonies were held. However, after participants complained that
without social dances it was hard to stay awake and be enthusiastic,
this practice was restorede In addition, for several dances, the Cedar
Creek medicine man encouraged those in attendance to sing and dance as
loudiy as they could; this, he.said, would speed up the anticipated
event. Consultants from Carrizo insieted that they could hear the
noise‘of dalodize' dances all the way from Cedar Creek, a distance of

. over ten miles.
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At San Carlos Big John also introduced additional elements to
: dagodixa’. He ordered every man, woman, and cﬁild to carry a small
pouch of hadntin at all times. These were to be tied to the front of
the shirt or blouse or kept in a pockét. The pouches themselves were
made from small pieces of buckskin, folded over and tied along the -
_edges with a piece of buckskin cord, Big John informed hié followers
that they might have need fbr hadntin sometime, '"so if anyone got
'siék, they”wouldznot be out of pblleh. 'They'would'héVe'sdme fbrpﬁt -
on the feet of a medicine-man along with the turquoise in the tradi-
tional way to gét him to cure' (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:398) . Big John
encouraged theApeople to pray often if théy expected to be raised up
into the cloud on the fateful day. He also instructed the male par-
ticipénts to obtain new horses and saddles and bring them to the dance.'
The men wpuld'still own the horses and saddles in the new world but
they would be improved. "Your horses will become better, and the
saddles also, he said" (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:396).

By the end of 1905 the dayodiya' movement was being regarded
by the Cibecue Apaches with suspicion. Weafj of dancing and waiting,
concerned because many had spent mucﬁ time participating in the move- .
ment to the neglect of economic pﬁrsuits, they began to pressure
Daslahdn to bring the predicted events to pass. One wintgr day he
called the da;odi{a' participants together near a wash not far from
Cibecue. Proclaiming again the validity of his prophecy, the medicine
man informed the crowd that he would have himself killed and in three

days would come back to life, He instructed that his main disciple
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should cut his head off, carry his body to,avnearby‘ ridge, lay it on
a blanket, and'leave it there. After three days had passed the people
were to bring Daslahdn new clothes and food for by then he would be
alive, ready at last to lead the people on a long journey. The disci=-
ple did what he was told. Three days later the followers approached
the body only to see that it was a corpee, already partially eaten by
animals. The Apaches fled in fear, leav1ng the remalns of Daslahdn un-
) bufied; Consultants reported that for years afterwards the blanket on
which the medicine man had been placed could be seen flapping in the
breeze. His skeleton was said to be visible as late as 1933. With
fhe death of Daslahdn the Cibecue Apache stopped participating in
da;odixa‘. |

Meaﬁwﬁile, participants in the movement at both Cedar Creek and
East Fork apparently started to become dissatisfied wlth dalodiza', In
_the opening months of 1906 the medicine man living at Cedar Creek.held
a large ceremony. It had been ralnlng for several days when he called
his followers together for a four-day, four-night ceremony. The medl—
¢ine man, a551sted by several others, proclaimed that the earth was
about to come to an end. The Apaches were supposed to be dancing and
singing when this happened, for only then would they be “taken up.*
On the morning of the fourth day they believed the moment had come;
they would be raised aloft in a cloud. A fog, accompanied by drizzling
rain, came in and began'to cover the dancers. When the fog had sur-
rounded the people some of them became frightened. The-medicine ﬁan

told the‘people not to fear, to keep on'dancing and singing, But some
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of them were terrified and began to wail. Eventually, the fog dissi-
pated and the clouds burned off. The mediéine man blamed the failure
of the ascension on the fear of the people.

Suspicious of the movement, a wealthy Cedar Creek man, R-1k,
who possessed 'lightning power,! detgrmined to identify the source of
the 'power' used by the da;odiya' medicine man. R-14 learned in this

way that it had come from t'ciidnnant'an, 'chief of the ghosts,' a

dangerous force.

Rl4 up at Cedar Creek had lightning power, so he sang
some lightning songs over the man who was head of the
dahgodiyah there in order to find out where his power was
coming %rom. From this sing R-14 found out that it was not-
really thirty-two men in the sky telling him what to do, as
he had thought, but it was one man who turned himself into
thirty-two different ones just to decéive him. This was
t'ci’dnnant'an and he was purposely misguiding the medicine-
man to fool him. He told him that it was not the real thing
at all. T'ci*dnnant'an meant to kill all us people by this.
He did get all the medicine-men except Big John. The medi-
cine man admitted that he had a dream about thirty-two
people telling him things, but he would not believe R-1l4
about the rest and went ahead (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:%403),

~ Although information on this point is scanty, two consultants
suggested that the followers of daxpdiga' living at East Fork were
beginning to exert pressure on their medicine man to produce more
tangible results. Sometiﬁe in 1906 he died; apparently of natural
causes. Soon after his death the Cedar Creek medicine man also died
(Goodwin aﬁd Kaut 1954:394), After their deaths, dayodiya' died out
on the Fort Apache Indian Reservation.
Meanwhile, on the San Carlos Indian Reservation the death of

Daslahdn and his failure to come back to life had important
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repercussions. More ahd more Apaches began to question the movement
and it generated less enthusiasm than before. Convinced, however; that
the end of the world was at hand, Big John continued to hold daﬁces.
When several Apache families moved to camp near Yellow Jacket, Big‘John :
directed the construction of their wickiups. He told them to build
their camps with the wickiups oriented north and south in féur parallel
lines. Each Qickiup was to have two doors, one facing east,rthe other
 towards the west, 'The'dWéiliﬁgs'ﬁeféﬂbriented in such a way that when
the doors of one wickiup were opened a person dould see through it
into the Qickiup next in line. Big John ordered the families not fo
mové into the newly constructed wickiups, because they were to be occu-
pied only after the earth had been purgéd (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:39L4).

But-Big John and the other San Carlos da;odixa' médicine men
were unable tovstop’the growing dissatisfaction with the movement,
Several individuals who attended the dances openly expressed their dié—
belief in the efficacy of the ceremony (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:399, L01),
‘One highly resﬁected medicine man from Dewey Flats, C. J. 37, pub-
licly stafed that Big John was not to be believed for the earth was
not going to be changed for some time (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:399),

After the deaths of Daslahdn and the medicine men from East
Fork and Cedar Creek, the San Carlos daxodiXa' medicine men, including
Big John, stopped holding dances. "I think Big John quit becausé he
got scared for himself and thought if he kept on he would get the same

thing as the three up at Fort Apache did" (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:394).
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In 1907 or 1908 Paul Nosey énd Charley Moccasin's brother, two da;odixa'
medicine men under Big John, élso died of natural causes.

In 1910 or 1911 Big John, recently divorced and remarried,
moved to Canyon Day near Fort Apache. Goodwin and Kaut (1954:394)
believe that he made the move because of hostilities stimulated by his
divorce, It is also possiblé,;since the Apache frequently practiced
matrilocal residence, that Big John went to Canyon Day to live with his
new wife's relatives.

Apaches on the San Carlos Indian Reservation offered various
reasons to explain why the predicted events failed to occur. A common
explanation was that three of the medicine men had been illicitly in-
volved with women.

I do not know why it was that we never got there., It fell
through. I guess it was all true all right, but we did not
get it because Big John deserted his wife and got another one,
That is the way it goes all the time., Whenever a medicine-
man comes into great power and influence, he always goes wrong
on a woman. Big John did. Charley Moccasin's brother was
only a boy, but as soon as this thing started he got married,
even though he was not old enough. Paul Nosey did the same
(Goodwin and Kaut 1954:396-397)4

In 1908, less than a year after Big John held his last ceremony
dazodi;a' was only a memory in the minds of the Apaches.

The next year after we quit the dance, we had great rains that
washed out all the roads and cottonwood trees along the river,
As soon as the floods had gone, new cottonwoods sprang up and
there were wonderful crops all over. Seeds of all kinds, many
acorns and grasses. But the people took only the acorns.

They did not want to bother with the old-time foods. So I
said jokingly to the others, '"Well, all this is what we must
have done all that dancing for.'" It seemed to me that some-
thing went wrong somewhere and that a mistake was made, In-
stead of a new earth being made for us, we had wonderful crops
on the earth we kept living on (Goodwin and Kaut 1954:399).



CHAPTER 6

' AAyODE!

The term 'éaxode' is a Western Apache lexeme meaning 'it is
going to happen,' and is the name applied by the Apaches to the third
religious cult‘movgment tqrberdgaltrwith ip,thiS,StudY' _It bgganrin
the summer of 1916 and exteﬁded a few months into 1917. 'Aaxode' was
started by a Turkey Creek medicine man, P-1l, and soon spread throughout
the White Mountains, beihg adopted by numerous medicine men in almost
every part of the Fort Apache Indian Reservation. Although the move~
ment reéeived little formal opposition from Whites it was soon aban-
doned because of the inébility of the medicine men to produce satisfy-

ing results.

Historical Context of 'Aayode!

During the period extending from the end of da&odila' in 1906
or 1907 until the rise of 'aayode' in 1916 the Apaches on the Fort
Apache Indian Reservation were under relaxed scrutiny by the military.
By the turn of the century virtually all vestiges of armed conflict had
been erased, and the Apache realized that only swift defeat would re-
sult from open hostilities. However, the Apaches were still fééling
the disruptive effects of assimilation. To make matters wbrse, this
was a period in which unusual and severe natural catastrophies were
experiénced on the reservétion.

112
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While the Apaches on the Eort Apache Reservation were allowed
to engage in hunting and gathering activities, they were not able to
make a living as they once had. In the Cibecue area, Apaches who be-
fore 1900 had spent the winters at lower elevations wefe prevented from
wandering too far away from the schools, missions, and trading posts.
Consequentiy, they were forced to spend the full year in thé_area
around Cibecue and began participating more and more heavily in cattle
raising and agriculture (Griffin, Leone, and Basso 1971).

At Fort Apache many Apaches still engaged in limited hunting
and gathering, especially of traditionally important foods such as deer
and acorns. However, they, too, were directed to remain fairly close
to the agency. Between 1907 and 1916 the Apaches were becoming more
heavily invblved in wage labor and entrepreneurship. One man, Silas
John Edwards, was making a healthy living during this period by skin-
ning rattlesnakes and meking belts, hat bands, and watch’fobs which he
sold to the Negro soldiers at Fort Apache. This same individual, along
with other Apaches, also raided the nests of bees and s0ld honey to
agency and military personnel. As was the case in the earlier period,
numerous Apaches were making a li#ing cutting firewood for the Whites
on the reservation. One consﬁltant recalled the tremendous traffic in
wood during this period,

The people down at Canyon Day used to camp on the south side
of the Fort Apache up along the hill there and up on top,
and they used to chop wood into three or four foot lengths
and put it on a burro and then walk the burros down to the

east side of Fort Apache and back there and they would stack,
But the people that had wagons and horses, they would go up
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on top of ID and they would chop those trees up you know--
cord size. And they would drive it into Fort Apache (female
Apache consultant).
Numerous Apachés were also making a living cutting wild grasses and hay
which were needed at Fort Apache and other Anglo centers. Aged cone-
sultants easily recall the spectacle made by Apacheé hauling hay.
You see the cavalry post was at Fort Apache and the Indians
brought hay, day after day. You'd see loads most all on
burros. Maybe you'd see six, eight, nine, burros in a row
_ s0 loaded full of this fresh mountain hay that you could just
see the heads and that's all of the burro (female Apache con-
sultant).
Besides cutting wood and hay most of the Apaches living near Fort
Apache were engaged in agriculture to a limited extent, planting small
gardeﬁs for themselves and éOmetimés larger plots whose yield was sold
to Whites.
With the money they earned the Aﬁaches were able to buy items
.such as cloth, coffee, tobacco, and tools. However, the Indian traders
charged ' exorbitant prices. Nevertheless, every Apache who remembers
- this period asserted that the people were no longer hungry. Indus-
trious individuals had money and almost everyone had enough to eat.
As was the case in the earlier periods, disease was rampant
on the Fort Apache Indian Reservation between 1907'and 1916. During
this period epidemics of influenza and.measles swept across the reser-
vation. However, these were mild compared to the ominous presence of
tuberculosis, eye diseases, and whooping.cough. In 1911, fifty-eight
percent of the White Mountain Apaches examined by agency physicians

had tuberculosis, and an estimated sixty~five percent were affected by

eye disease. In 191L an estimated thirty-three percent of the Apaches
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were reported to be suffering from trachoma. The next yeérvtubercu-
losis was blamed fof sixty percent of the reported deaths (Everett
1971:73~74). Perhaps the worst epidemics involved whooping cough and
pneumonia. Reverend E., E. Guenther, the Wisconsin Evangelical Lutheran
missionary living at Bast Fork, vividly reported one such epidemic that
occurred in December of 1914 and the early months of 1915,

In the early days, with the breaking out of an epidemic
disease -our Apaches would pack up-at -twilight and-head for
the valleys in the foothills after dark to prevent the sick-
ness from being able to follow them.

Stepping out one snowy wintry morning, I noticed an
absence of campfire smoke over the camps in our neighborhood.
From this I judged something to be wrong, for our Indians
are early risers. . « e«

When we rang the school bell on the aforesaid morning
only a few children put in their appearance, and from them
we learned that almost every family with children had moved
to a hiding place in the foothills to escape whooping cough
and pneumonia. Their fears were well founded for these.
maladies soon swept across the entire Reservation. My wife
and I spent many weary days in the saddle from morning till
dark trying to find our people so that we might minister to
their children. We were led to many a temporary abode by
smoke rising from camp fires; others we came upon merely by
chance, Having no medicines of any kind I trapped skunks,
rendered the fat and mixed it with turpentine and coal-oil.
To give the concoction a pleasant odor my wife added some
of her precious perfume. For containers we begged extract
and other bottles from the Officers' wives at Ft. Apache.
For chest pads we cut up every spare piece of warm cloth on
hand and when that was used up our long winter underwear
was dedicated to the cause. Humanly speaking we saved the.
lives of many youngsters; everyone of our school children
survived, but several hundred others died throughout the
Reservation for lack of proper care. For weeks we were
awakened almost every morning by a rifle shot announcing
that another family had lost one of its little ones (E. E.
Guenther 1956:112).

During times of illness and epidemic the Apache turned to their

medicine men (E. E. Guenther 1929:8). However, diseases such as
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measles, tuberculosis, and whooping cough were recognized by the
Apaches as having been introduced by the Whites and were ailments for
which the Apache had few traditional cures., Medicine men such as Big
John were able to bring satisfying resulis for some patients. However,
others were less successful. When all else failed Reverend Guenther
was approached and asked to administer Anglo medicine., On one occasion
a medicine man brought his deathly ill daughter to Reverend Guenther
‘and asked him to save the child's life. He did.. During this period
the Apaches rarely turned for help to the agency physician. Reverend
Guenther again described the situation which existed during the whoop-
ing cough and pneumonia epidemics.

As a rule, the Indians used only little of the medicine

which the white man gives to them, but this time they were
longing for a person in whose hands they could have put the
fate of their children., TFor a long time they had lost all
confidence in the agency doctor. Because he is embarrassed

" (considering it below his dignity to be seen on horseback)
he could visit almost none of the sick, and those he visited
died. So the Indians were afraid to have him come because
all those he looked at died afterwards. Even if they accepted
something harmless from him, they immediately afterwards came
to me and had me smell the medicine and make sure it was not
harmful (E. E. Guenther 1915).

During the decade following the darodixa' movement agency per-
sonnel felt that one of their main tasks was to educate the White Moun-
tain Apaches. From their point of view boarding schools were more
successful than day schools because many of the Apache families were

still seminomadic and frequently day school children were reyorted

missing, having gone off with their parents.
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Well, they did have trouble keeping the children in day
schools because the parents moved of necessity. They lived
along the river and their fields in the summertime. And then
as soon as it got cold, and their crops were in they all
moved up the mountain, where they were more sheltered and
there was more wood. They moved, instead of hauling the
wood down, they moved closer to the source of fuel. And then
in fall, you know, they would practically migrate at a cer-
tain time all down to Oak Creek Spring, that Oak Creek Flat,
and gather acorns and like that. At different seasons they
went to different places and gathered crops (female Anglo
consultant). :

~ Forced education was regarded with fear and suspicion by the

A?aches. Numerous congultants remembering this period admitted that
they were afraid to go to school because they felt they might be killed
by the White people. Other consultants recalled that both parents and
medicine men were opposed to sending children to school because they
were needed in subsistence pursuits and feared that while in school
the'youngsters might become too much like White meh. The medicine men
were also afraid that,.removed from the influence of their Apache
elders, the children would have no desire to learn to become medicine
men, In many respects their féars were well~-founded. Mrs. Guenther,
wife of the Lutheran missionary reminisced on the situation as she saw
it during this period.

But that's what the whole education was, they had to do it

like the white man, believe like the white man, live like the

white man. Now there was nothing wrong with the way they

were living. You know many of them kept nice clean camps,

they were happy with their way of doing things. They were

forced to change, to live like the white man (Minnie Guenther

personal communication 1974).

Nevertheless, education was made mandatory. Apache police

served as truant officers. In order to evade these men, mothers often
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gave explicit advice to their children on where to hide. One woman
recalled thatbshe had been told that whenever a certain Apache police~
man came around she was to hide in a wash or arroyo. One day, while
in hiding, it began to rain and as thelwater in the wash began to fLlow
she was forced to expose her position. Other families moved high up
into‘the mountains where the chances of their children being found were

less likely. Apaches who did attend school frequept}y”found ititrgq-r
r@éfic; Whipping wéé an accepted form of discipline., Finally, older
students in school for the first time found themselves in the same
classes as sixfyear old children, a soufge of acute embarrassment.

A few families took advanfage of the educational system. Some
consuitants'stated they were gncouraged to attend school because they
would be fed and clothed. One Apache recalled that at school he was
issued new underwear. When he returned home on weekends he would give
the garments to his brothers. Then he would return to school, get new
underwear,‘and the process would repeat itself.

Meanwhile, the Lutheran missionaries continued their work on
the Fort Apache Indian Reservation. After years of instabilify and
rapid. turnover of personnel, the Lutherans‘found a missionary who
wéuld stay. In April, 1911, Reverend.E.'Edgar Guenther and his wife,
Minnie, arrived in East Fork. Guenther immediately found an inter-
preter who spoke good English and knew some Biblical stories. Using
his interpreter, Jack‘Keyes, Guenther preached a sermon on the Easter
message. He was well received by the few Apaches in attendance.

Shortly after Guenther arrived in East Fork, Otto P. Schoenberg, who
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had'beeﬁ the teacher in the now defunct East Fork mission school, was
transferred to Cibecue and in 1912 opened a school there. Able to
speak Apache, Schoenberg met with moderate success. However, he was
recalled in 1913 due to personal problems and replaced by Reverend
Zuberbier who remained at Cibecue valley until 1919 (Brown 1963:38-89).

| In 1911 Guenther was given instructions by the mission board
to reopen the school at East Fork. His efforts were severely hampered
by é totél laékrofrfuhdsrand resié£ance f?om”Aﬁéchés. Many Apache
parents would allow their children to attend only if they were fed and
clothed (Guenther 1956:93), Evenfually, Guenther did open the school
and pafents in the vicinity found parochial education superior to
boarding schools. Guenther had no authority to force aﬁtendance and
parents were permitted to withdraw their children when they desired.

Besides preaching and teaching ét his church and school in East

Fork, Reverend Guenther spent much of his time riding from camp to camp
talking to the Apaches and administering to their needs. By about 1914
he had established good relationships with most of the Apaches living
near East Fork. The reasons for his acceptance_weré several. First,
he rarely openly condemned Apache customs and practices. Like his
predecessor, Mayerhoff, Guenther Believed that his job was to present
Christ to the Apaches and.they would be led by the Holy Spirit to
accept Christianity. Second, he made a serious effort to learn the
Apache language. Finally, he played a role functionally analagous to
that of a medicine man -~ praying for the people, diagnosing, and

curing their ailments. One consultant, hbwever, noted that his family
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was suspicious of Guenther because t;aditional.medicine men received
goods or money for their services while Guenther refused such payment.

Nevertﬁeless, Guenther found himself in competition with the
medicine men. Many of the local medicine men began holding dancés on
Sundays trying to>draw the Apaches away from the Lutheran church,
thereby affirming the idea that Christianity was a religion for Anglos
_and not Apaches.

While agents among the White Mountain Apache during this period
were more tolerant of Apache customs, they still Qorke& to change the
Indian culture.. According to Anglo observers, drinking was a serious
problem., Police were instructed to break up tufpai drinking parties
and arrest Anglos who provided Apaches with liquor,

About 1915 the U. S. Indian Service eﬁcouraged the Aﬁaches to
adopt an Anglo-American system of naming. The fask of "straightening
out the Apache names so thaf members of one family would all have the
same surname" fell on Vincent Natalish from New York (M. Guenther
1968a:2). Natalish first determined the Apaéhes genealogical relations
and then aesignated family surnames.

Variogs consultants recalled that during this period the fre-
quency of witchcraft accusations increased dramatically. Individual
Apaches who committed antisocial acts, who became drunk too often, or
who acfed "too much like white men'" were blamed for various hardships
and difficulties. Similarly, several consultants noted that a division

was occurring between Apaches who were willing to accept certain Anglo
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practices and goods and those who refused to do so (E. E. Guenther
1956:110) .

Besides a phanging economic system, disease, forced education,
missionizatidn, increasing witchcraft accusations and growing faction-
alism among the Apaches, the period between 1907 and 1916 witnessed
sevérél unprecedented natural events. In 1910 Halley's Comet appeared
in the sky. Apache consultants recall that it frightened the Indians,
é;d'ﬁeaieiﬁe ménrwéferﬁarérpﬁtVﬁérexélain ifs éiiéténcéhﬁf mééﬁing;””
Other consultants also recall a time when it "rained stars," and
meteorites were observed hitting the earth near Canyon Day, Amos Wash,
and the North Fork River. Other meteorites were seen shooting across
the sky. It is impossible to. pinpoint this event precisely, but it
was probably a meteor shower that occurred on July 19, 1912. Panic
spread among the Apaches who were fearful that the earth might blow up
like a bomb. (The image ﬁsed byrthe Indians to describe this event was
to liken it to the cannbnheing shot off ét Fort Apéche.) The reason
given for the rain of stars was that the Apache had done something

wrong, and that the deity bik'ehgo’ihi'dan was mad at them and wanted

to move the earth somewhere all "busted up." To prevent this the
Apache were encouraged to pray.

Three years later another frightening event occurred. On April
17, 1915, at 5:40 in the morning a major earthquake shook the White
Mountains., The esfimated epicenter of the quake was put at 34.4° north
1atitude and 115.5° west longitude, about five or ten miles south of

Show Low, Arizona (Sturgul and Irwin 1971:8). One Apache recalled
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that he was a boy in Carrizo when this occurred. "Early in the morning
before suhrise, itvwas daylight already, bang, bang, bang, bang, the
earthquake. And man, everybody jumped -- jumped and they wondered.
Everybody ran out of their wickiup. Some of our camps slipped down,
wickiups." Other consultants reported that they were awakened by the
earthquake and that cans full of tufpai were overturned. The most
common explanation for the earthquake was that it‘wgs'theronerwhichrrﬁrrf
rhad ﬁeén éfédictedréarlier by the dalodixa' prophet, It was taken as
yet another indication that the earth was to be destroyed.

Nine months latér, in Januafy 1916, the White Mountain Apache
experienced the heaviest falls of rain and snow that any of.them could
remember. The U. S. Weather Bureau reported that Janﬁary of 1916 was
the wettest month sinceAthe esfablishment of the Arizona climatological
service in 1892, Precipitation fell continually from January 15th to
the 21st and from the 26th through the 30th (Meaker 1916:3), A retired
Army seréeant, George J. Henry, who lived along the Black River near
West Poker Mountéin, kept an accurate diary of the daily tempefatuﬁes
and precipitation. Between January 15th and 20th he»measured well over
twenty inches of raiﬁfall and almost fourteen inches Qf snow.A Mean-
while, the temperatures remained above freezing. The heavy‘rain and
snowstorms, coupled with the high temperatures, resulted in vast
flooding along most drainages in the White Mountains. Apache farms
and summer wickiups were washed away, as were several houses and

bridges (Guenther 1967:9).
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The Apaches attributed this catastrophe to three different
sources, Reverend Guenther, trying to convince the Apaches that the
Christian God was the ruler over all things, proclaimed that God had
sent the rain for some as yet undetermined reason. Several consultants
said that they accepted this explanation. Another explanation was that
some Apaches, stingy with their food resources, had been unwilling to
share them with those in need. As a consequence, a giant snake,
tY1ii% Yo ('snake, big') came down the river bringing flood waters with
him. Finally, other Apaches attributedvthe flood to witchcraft. One
woman said that a sorcerer had been killing Apaches with his 'power,!
He had killed a medicine man, she observed, and that was what caused
the flood.

For all the reasons mentioned above, the period between 1906
and 1916 was characterized by considerable unrest among Apaches living
on the Fort Apache Reservation. Furthef reduction of hunting and
gathering activities, severe epidemics and widespread disease, problems
_ with forced formal education, the unceasing efforts of Lutheran mission-
aries, and an increase in witchcraft accusations =~- all these factors
operated to produceiahxiety and fear. In addition, four major natural
events (Halley's comet, the meteor shower, the earthquake, and the
flood) were experienced by the hapless Apaches. Less than seven months

after the flood waters had subsided the 'aalode' movement began.
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The !'Aayode! Prophets

Although the 'aaxpde' movemeﬁt lasted for less than a year, it
attracted some of the most important medicine men on the Fort Apache
Indian Reservation. The movement was starfed bva—l at Turkey Creek
and soon spread to various other medicine men throughout the reserva-
tion, including P-6, A-99, John Taylay, and unnamed medicine men in
Canyon Day and Cedar Creek.

o 7 rTﬁeimédiéinérmﬁﬁr;hoﬂiﬁffdduced 'aaxode' was a man whose Apache
name was As-ka—da;de-del-du or Es-day-daht-a-de according to military
reéords. However, he was more commonly known as P=1, P-George, or
Chief George. Little information is availabie on P~1 that pertains to
the first thirty years of his life. Census records show that he was
born in 1851. Sometime during his youth he married a White Mountain
Apache woman named Nah-al-tu-lay who was born in 1853. 1In 1875 P-1
became the father of a son named‘Isekil-al—zay or P-6. The boy later
became an 'aaxode' medicine man also. |

Although P-1 lived in relative obscurity for three decades, the
events at Cibecue in 1881 brought him to the forefront of>Anglo atten~

tion. In the winﬁef of 1880 and 1881 census taker Charles T. Comnell
(1921) reported that there was a band chief living on the Black River
named Chief George. The members of this band, twenty-six White Mouh-
tain ApaChes, had procured passes from the San Carlos agency and had
moved to an area near Fort Apache, They overstayed their passes there
and were designated '"absent without leave.! OnvAugust 30, 1881, the

Battle of Cibecue took place. Within hours, news of the event reached
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Chief George. The next day Apaches killed several Anglo 01v111ans an&
soldlers only a few miles southeast of Fort Apache. The Indians
credited with the killings included Chief Bonito and a band of four
Chiricahuas, Chief George and his twenty-six member band, a few Apache
"outlaws," and seven of Pedro's band, including Alchesay and Uclanny
(Thrapp 1972:43), The next afternoon a group of Apaches opened fire
on Fort Apache. George's band was said to have rlayed a major role in
this attack (Thrapp 1972: Lh). By mid-September George's band saw the
futility of fighting and decided to return to the San Carlos subagency
near Camp Thomas. George and Bonlto agreed to go to the subagency and
surrender to General Wlllcox. The two chiefs were temporarily paroled
(Price 1881:ix-x; Thrapp 1972: 46 L7y, Yet, only five days later,.
General Willcox declared an end to their parole and sent the cavalry,‘
clad in battle attire, to arrest the chiefs and bring in their fol-
lowers (Thrapp 1964:221—222).' Realizing what was ha?pening, George and
his band fled into a remote area of the reservation. Later they were
-arrested (Thrapp 1972:49-50). |

The next information on P-1 dates to 188%. On April 15 he en-
listed in the Apache Scouts for a sik-month tour of duty. He was
described as being five feet six inches tall and about forty-three
years old (which would put his birthdate at 1841 instead of 1851),
Upon enlistment, George was appointed sergeant of "E" Company Indian
Scouts by Lieutenant Charles B. Gatewood. He was discharged at Fort
Apache when his enlistment éxpired and was cited as "an excellent

Scout." He reenlisted two more times and served again as sergeant of
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"E" Company. He was finally mustered out of military service on
October 31, 1885. |
After this P-l dropped out of sight fofva decade. In 1895 he
was listed in a White Mountain Apache census as_maintaining a farm
along Turkey Creek. His family possessed ten horses, eight cows and
one mule, indicating that he was quite wealthy by Apache standards.
The census also listed hiﬁ as the brother of P-4, P-5, and P-9 who were
‘“all no good." At some point during the next ten years his 'wifé died.
P-1 was also well-known as a medicine man to Apaches living at Turkey
Creek and East Fork. Exéctly what type of 'power' he had is uncertain,
but it appears that his 'éower' came to him in a dream. Later,.and
immediatély before the 'aayode' movement began, he received another -
dream in which the prophecy of the movement was revealed to him. The
'aatode' moveﬁent began in the summer of 1916 when P-l announced to his
»people that at a certain date in the fall he would lead his people to a
new.world. This event faiied to occur and the doctrine was modified.
Only a year later the followers abandoned the movement, and P-1 re-
turnedAto his farm on Turkey Creek. |
P-1's son, P~6, was also directly involved in the movement, He
was born in 1875 and later married a White Mountain Apache girl named
Na-le-ya-la. P-6 and his wife had three children, and in 1895 were
living comfortably with twenty-eight horses, eight cows, and one mule.
Although P-6 was a medicine man like his father the source of his
'‘power' is not known. In 1916 and 1917 he took an active part in the

'aa;ode' movement, particularly at Turkey Creek and East Fbrk.
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Another medicine man who conducted 'aayode! ceremonies was
A~99. His father was Uclanny who, as has beeh noted, played a promi-
nent role in the events surrounding thé Battle of Cibecue (Thrapp 1972:
43; Tiffany 1881:10). During his 1ifetime Uclanny had three wives
(Cole-lay, Ne-tol-yay, and Nah-lene-cha-ne) and a total of eleven
children. One of these children, a boy, was A-99 (also known as Td—_'
thlay or Chisay), born in 1877;W7Uanrtynatgly,rliﬁtleris known of his
:éérifrlife, except that he married a White Mountain Apache girl naméd
Chris-crdnie who bore him a son and a daughter. On April 26, 1896,
A-G99 jbined the Apache police force as a private. Exactly how long he
worked as a policéman is unclear. Most Apaches agree that by 1915 he
was a well-known and highly respected medicine man. A contemporary
White Mountain Apache medicine man labeled him "a real heavy weight
singer" who had 'lightning power;' In 1916, when the 'aaxode' movement
began, A-99 was living along the North Fork of theIWhite River., He
conductéd 'aaxode' ceremonies at North Férk and East Fork. After the
movement stopped, he cantinued on as a respected medicine mah.

The other major medicine man who participated in the 'aaxodef
movement was C-1, also known as John Taylay, from Cibecue. Taylay was
born in 1865. On November 22, 1882, he enlisted as a corporal in MEM
Company of the Apache Scouts. He served ﬁntil January 1885, by which
time he had worked his way up to the rank of first sergeant. He was
described upon his discharge as "an excellent scout." TIn April 1887,
he reenlisted in the Scouts and served for one year before being mus-

tered out of the Army. In 1898 John Taylay enlisted in the Apache
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police at the rank of private.‘ In September 1898, the agent at Fort
Apache made John Taylay Chief of the Apaches living on the Cibecue
Creek, |

John Taylay's first wife was called Te-go-ha. She bore him
four children, oneiof whom died shortly after birth. Te-go-ha died
in 1904 and John Taylay remarried. He‘became the father of threeAmore
children,

- Apaéhe ébﬁsuiténés réééii tﬁatrTa&iay réﬁéifedrhis 5§o§ef'
through dreams. In 1916 John Taylay was living in Cibecue and was the
major 'aagode' medicine man on the western end of the Fort Apache
Indian Reservation. After the movement stopped he continued as a medi-
cine man and raised éattle. He died in 1940 of natﬁral pauses.(Niemann
1940:129-131).

In addition to the major 'aayode' medicine men (p-1, P-6, A-99,
and John Taylay) contemporary Apaches recall that other medicine men
played minor roles. - There was an 'aa;ode' médicine'man at Cedar Creek
who gatheredva rather large following in 1916, but exactly who he was

ig uncertain. There was also an 'aayode' medicine man at Canyon Day.

' gg;odg'

The White Mountain Apache term which labels the religious cult
movement that occurred in 1916 and 1917 is 'aaxode‘. It comes from the
verb lELE and roughly glosses as 'it is gqing to happen.'

Two consultants creditéd John Taylay with the beginning of the

A 'aayode' movement, but most asserted that the founder was P-l. From
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P-1 and his»son P-6 the movement sodﬁ'spread throughout the Fort Apache
Indian Reservation. The details of the ceremonies vary from area to
area, but the basic doctrine behind 'aa{dde' was everywhere the same.
Participants were instructed to dress in white clothing and to par-
tipipate actively in dancés. At some point, followers of the movement
would be lifted off the.earth by one of'severai Apache deities or by
Jesus Christ. Meanwhile, the earth would be destroyed. Those lifted
ﬁpiwouid75e frénépofféd féia,habﬁy, hea#en—like'plécerknoﬁh”éé goﬁb?zo" 7

1

-- 'goodness, where it is.' There they would live in peace. There
would be no fighting, death, or hunger and the dead would be resur-
rected.

The»'aaxode' movement began in Juhe of 1916 under the leader=-
ship of P-1, P-l's initial revelation came from a large white bird
which told him that in the fall, just as the flowers were beginning to
Qilt, the world would come to an end. There would be no more God or
Devil. '". . . the dear Sun will destroy them and then forever look down

_upon us‘with its life-generating warmtﬁ" (E. B. Guenther l9l6a). The
former would be recognized by their appearance and behavior. First,
they were to purchase small buckskin sacks filled with hadntin from
P-1 and pin- them to their clothingl Second, each'member was.to be
morally and physically clean.

« » « but P-1 also says that one has to prepare oneself. He
says that we must put on white clothing, wash our heads, get
rid of vermin, keep our fingernails clean; there must be
an end to lying, drinking and gambling; otherwise, we will

not be worthy to enter the new world with him (E. E. Guenther
1916a).
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When the appointed day arrived and the projected ascension into
the new world failed to occur, P-l and his son P=6 introduced a new
prophecy. On a cerfain Friday at a prescribed Location "the long-
deceased mother of an old Scout would come back to earth dressed all
inbwhite mounted on a white horse, to cafry back the worthy ones to the
new world" (E. E. Guenther 1956:13%3). After this event also failed to
materialize the medicine man issued a final prophecy to the people.
The béliévers we;érté gatﬁefrtogéther dressed in white. They would
participate in dances and then, suddenly, they would be taken off the
earth to enter a new world. P-l1 and P~6 held several ceremonies near
Turkey Creek and informed the participants that the fateful day would
" occur in the sprihg.

Reverend Guenther described in a mission report (1916b) the
progréss of 'aaxode' in the late fall of 1916, "As long as fhe weéther
permitted, they went ih_masses out to Turkey Creek every Friday,
neglecting everything else. The chief of ali the Apaches, A-l, and
vothers have snatched up the tune and now spread it on every end of the
reservation,! Thét winter the White Mountain Apaches made ready for
the coming spring. They bought all the available white cloth from the
trading posts and procured bleached flour sacks. White clothing was
made for both men énd women. A _

P-1 and P~6 made a concerted effort to keep news of 'aayode!
from the Anglos. In the summer of 1916 anthropologist Pliny Goddard
(1917) noted that a dance was scheduled but because of his presence was

- postponed. Similarly, Guenther noted that P-1 would not speak in the
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presence of any of the'parochial school children and threatened death
"in hell" to anyone who disclosed some part of 'aazode' to White mis-
sionaries. Fihally, when Guenther tried to purchase a bag of hadntin
from P-6, the medicine man exclaimed that his supply had run out
(E. E. Guenther 1916b; 1956:133).
Not all of the Apaches in the vicinity of Turkey Creek and East
Fork were attracted to the teachings of P-1 and P-6. During the f?ll,,
and earinWinfér of iél6rReferénd Gﬁénfher rééliéed £hat'his policy of
simply proclaiming the Christian message and not condemning hative
teachings had to be changed. He fherefore vigorously instructed those
Apadhes living near the East Fork Mission of the'spiritual dangérs in-
volved in following the 'aaxode' teachings. His efforts apparently
succeeded, for he later bpasted that none of the school children had
- been ''seduced" by the new teachings. .Besides Guenther there were two
particularly outspoken Apache critics of the movement. One'was Jack‘
Keyes, the long-time interpreter for Lutheran missionafies. Keyes
refused even to discuss the sub ject of 'aaxode"with o#her‘Apaches and
by his silence indi&ated_his disapproval of the movement, More verbal
was Y-23, a close friend of Reverend Guenther, 'Y-23 continually joked
with the followers of the movement in a sarcastic fashion. To those
who followed the medicine men Y-23 said, "You can go on your way and I
will become a richvman from all the ponies and cattle you wiil have to
léave behind" (E. E. Guenther 1956:133). |
By the spring of 1917 the 'aaxgde' movement had spread through-

‘out the Fort Apache Indian Reservation. Dances were being performed by
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A-99 at Nprth Fork,‘by John Taylay at Cibecue, and by several other
less well-known medicine men at Canyon Day, Cedar Creek, and, perhaps,
Forestdale.
| Many Apaches alive today attended the dances held by P-1 ang
P-6 in the spring and summer of 1917. One dance was held near Chino

Springs. A few days before this ritual was to be held, messengers sent

by P-6 1nformed Apaches at Turkey Creek and East Fork that 'aagode'” S

rﬁould occur, and that the people should prepare themselves. The men
took sweat baths and women prepared white clothing, When the day
arrived, many Apaches ma&e the tfip to Chino Springs. The women wore
regular camp clothes over their white dresses and when they arrived at
the dance ground removed the outer garments,

Those who were not able to aitend were also given explicit in—f
structions. One young woman was left behind in East Fork to miﬁd her.
younger siblings while her parents made the trip to Chlno Springs. She
was told to clean all the children, to have them all take baths, eat,
and gather around them a few possessions. The children were then in-
structed to sit on a large canvas which had been spread out on the
ground. It was believed that when the anticipated event transplred
the children and the young girl would be lifted up on the canvas,

For those who attended the dance the procedure was different,
People Qho danced were instructed to throw their hands up and 1ift
their feet high into the air. They were told by P=6 that they wouid
be lifted up off the earth in a cloud, Meanwhile, the children who

ringed the dancers were told to jump up; if anything happened they
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should leap on a cloud and it would take them to a happy place. The
dance, however, did not produce the promised results. There was a
considerable amount of uncertainty about how the dance should be per-
formed, and, while'dancing in a circle, some participants changed
direction, causing confusion. P-1 and P-§ blamed the failure on mis-
takes made by the dancers.

Despite this apparent setback the Apaches of East Fork and
"Turkey Creek Qéré not discouraged. In April of 1917 Reverend Guenther
(1917) reported "The devilish influence of P-1 is felt everywhere. He
has indeed instructed his people in all virtues but with the result
that the whole group is more defiant, more lazy, .less reliable and
more obstinate against the word of God than ever before,"

During the summer of 1917 P-1 and P-6 held more and more
'aazode' dances. The majority were conducted at a site near Turkey
Creek., Some of the dances lasted for two days and nights, others
lasted for four. Almost all of the ceremonies involved praying to the
medicine man and blessing him and the participants with hadntin., An
eyewitness recalled one 'aaXode' ceremony conducted by P-6 near Turkey
Creek,

Messengers said they're going to dance four nights and we're
going up to heaven. They dress us good. They use powder
this yellow powder, the blue stone and the feather, and they
say, "All right, let's line it up." " And the medicine guys
over here, and they pray for us, do the best they can. Ve're
going up pretty soon. Don't go to bed, don't go to sleep.
Four nights wait. Little kids tired--nobody go to bed. Sit
there four nights four days.

Oh they lie you know--those guys. Didn't do it. Finally

they get mad at each other, you know, those medicine men.

"You damn lie. You don't know nothing," that's what they
said you know (male Apache consultant).
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At this pérticular dance P-6 described what was to become of this
earth, It was to shake violently. There would be thﬁnderstorms,_wind-
- storms, and the ground would shake. Rocks and tall trees would fall
and the earth would be destroyed.

In spite of repeated failures by the medicine men to bring
about entry into a new world, the Apaches following P~1 and P-6 con-
tinued to attend the dances. However, skepticigmrand.oppqsition in-
creased. In the Whiteriver, East Fork, Seven Mile, and Canyon Day
areas four Apache families openly opposed the medicine men. Their main
criticism came in the form of sarcasm. A woman who was just a girl in
1917 recalled her father's opposition to a 'aa;ode' participant,

There was a time up there at Turkey Creek. I remember that
because my father and everybody had a crop. X had a crop -
right in front of Y's house on that side. And they're all
gone, everybody took off except us because, see, daddy
wouldn't let us go to places like that. And when he saw X
(X had lot of cattle and horses and things like that and
lived right on top of the mountain there) and he passed by
and daddy stopped him and said, '"What happened? Going up
on top to see the medicine man P-6 and his father?" He said,
""ean I have your corn crop in case you all leave?" And X
said, "ha'oo, ha'oo 'you can have it.'" And when the corn

was about ready to eat, two months later, we saw them going
by. It didn't happen (female Apache consultant).

William Peterson, the superintendent of the Fort Apache Indian
Reservation, became troubled by the fact that Apaches were not tending
their crops in 1917, He could foresee a crisis in the winter when the
Apachés would go hungry. Consequently, he ordered the police to bréak
up the meetings in an effort to put an end to 'aaxode'. Nevertheless,
the dances continued into September. Participants attempted to follow

all directives issued by the medicine men. They dressed in white and
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wore the bags of hadntin. The women decorated their skirts and blouses
with black or blue moon symbols made of cloth, and wore black, white,
green, and yellow silk ribbons or scarfs which represented the four
sacred colors. The men dressed in white pants and shirts and some wore
medicine hats, The people took their horses, food, and other valuables
with them and moved up from the river valleys to Turkey Creek leaving
their fields unattended. The medicine men had told them that they need
Wnét Qdff& éﬁgufrthe fﬁtﬁfe Eécauéerinrfhe ﬁew w5£1d —;rgdgooydr—; théféi

. . te
would be plenty to eat and the people would no longer have to work and
sweat.

However, the dances continued to fail to produce the new world.
Several consultants recall a dance held in August 1917. A large crowd
.gathefed at Turkey Creek. After being blessed with hadntin the people
began to dance in a circle. The medicine men and their heipers sang
to the beat of two drums. The parficipants, in obediencg'to the médi-
cine men's command, danced and sang loudly, holding hands. Then, sud=-
denly, a white mist covered the danéers. It was like a gréat thick
fog. The participants felt that they were going to go up, but they
did not. The failure was blamed on one or more individuals who got
scared or did not believé in the prophecy.

Apparently, the earth was not going to come to an end. Some
people accused the medicine men of being liars, of having been deceived

by tc'iidnnant'an. Others argued that participants had broken certain

rules and thereby spoiled the dances.
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Although P-1 and P-6 were the only mediciné men to.condgct
'aagode' ceremonies in the summer and fall of 1916, several others
ﬁegan holding dances in 1917; One important medicine man who held
'aaxode' ceremonies in 1917 was A-99.4 He held dances near Haystack,
Rainbow City, Alchesay Flat, and East Fork.

Little is known about the 'aaxode' ceremony A-99 held near Hay-
stack, a site about eighteen miles north of North Fork. After about
a weekréfrﬁrépa}ationé éhe a;née was held, but the participants did
‘not ascend from earth. Some of those who attended Speculated that
the medicine man and his helpers might have spent the week before the
dance having sex with.several'young girls who were present.

Sometime in Jﬁly, 1917, several weeks after the dance near Hay=-
stack, A-99 held another 'aayode! dance near what later became known
as Peterson's Sawmill, a spot about.one milé north of the present com-
munity of Rainbow Cify. A-99 told the people that during the dance,
the participantslwould be liffed up inte a happy pléce while the earth
would be blown up. The happy place would be one of abundant food where
everyone would experience good health, People with handicaps or ill-
nesses would be cured; there would be peace and no worries,

" When the day of the dance arrived, the Apaches who planned to
attend got ready. They took sweat-baths and put on white clothing.,
The men wore white G-strings or long underwear and those that owned
medicine hats wore them. The women wore white camp dresses decorated

with four black or blue crosses spaced eﬁenly around the hem., The
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dance was to last for four'days and four nights during which time no
one was to sleep. The ceremony began in the evening.

After the participants had arrived they lined up and A-99 put
hadntin on them and prayed for them. The people also sprinkled hadntin
on A;99 and prayed to him. During the entire ceremony the medicine man
was accompanied by six youths and six young girls. They danéed and

prayed and took part in every 'aayode' ceremony conducted by A-99, On

7 this occasion the ﬁeoﬁle'dahéed ali higﬁt and thernéxf ﬁbrhihg égéiﬂﬂrﬁ“"'

formed a line and were blessed with hadntin, After four days and
nights the medicine man told the people to get ready and not to become
frightened because they were going up. This was in the morning,

They all started to pray and dance and they said it got kind .

of yellow, you know, like a sunset. Everywhere, everything

got still. And they could see this yellow, just yellow like

you turn on the light, it just got yellow. And then somebody

got scared, and that yellow, that light just went out (female

Apache consultant).

Late in the summer of 1917, A-~99 held several 'aaxode' dances
at Alchesay Flat. These dances followed the same format as the one
held at Peterson's Sawmill, The Apaches arrived and in the evening
lined up. They were blessed with hadntin and in turn blessed and
prayed to A-99. They then bégan to dance. The dancers, most of whom
were dressed in white, took short steps and circled the fire. Mean-
while, A-99, accompanied by four drums, sang chants. He would sing a

few verses, then pray, then sing again., Four times during the night

the dancing stopped, and praying and blessing with hadntin took place.

After the fourth night the people returned home. They were told to

meet a week later and be ready to dance.
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However, the end of the earth never arrived. Most of the
Apaches blamed the failure on lack of belief. Some claimed that thére
were wicked individuals among the participanté who did not believe the
medicine man. Others claimed that certain individuals did not believe

in the Apache deities bik'ehgo'ihi'dan, yoosn, and naaye'nez ane who

had all been prayed to during the course of the ceremohies.

A-99 also bestowed new names on his followers. These names were
Véé 5e~u$ed in”thewhew'worid; 'Aliﬂfhévﬁémes'fbr7deéﬁ included Aﬁaché
elements yoo'! Yigai meaning 'bead, white' an item traditionally associ-

ated with women. One girl, for example, was named na'ilihn yoo! Yigai

yinefinel'ii, literally translated 'girl, bead, white, looks back at

me.' Names given to men included the word for 'blue bead' or 'tur-
quoise,’ yoé dotZi%.

According to Apache consﬁltants, by the fall of 1917, A-99,
like his Turkey Creek counterparts P-1 and P-6, wvas beginning to feel
the pressure of dissatisfied 'aayode'! followers., Consequently, he re-
newed his efforts to lead his people into the new world. He did this
by changing the location of his dances to East Fork, and by adding new
elements. ‘He instructed four men, dressed in white, to ride én horses
with blue, yellow, black, and white scarves tied to the horses' manes,
tail aﬁd bridles. The four men would ride from North Fork to East
Fork, informing the people of the forthcoming dance and warhing them
that the end of the earth was near. As they rode by they would not
stop and talk to the people but instead would shout, '"come on, come on

along! We are going to tell you what the news; what the news is"
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(male Apache consultant). The people were also told to take their
horses and movable property into the new world.

The ceremonies themselves were typical of other 'aaxodé' ritual
perfofmances led by A-99. The participants, dressed in white, would
arrive in the evening and line up. A-99 would bless each person with
hadntin and call each person by his or her new name. The actual cere-
mony lasted for four days and four nights during which everyohe was
~ instructed to keep awake. A-99 told the participants that the end of
the world was near, and thét they would soon travel to 5229%12' the

T
happy place. On one occasion in the fall of 1917 a dance had begun and
A-99's hélpers were singing. Aftér a while the medicine man's presence
was missed and the people began to search for him. Eventually they
found him lying with an unmarried girl.l The dance immediately broke
up and was never again attended, A-99's actions had betrayed him,.

Duiing the summer and fail of 1917 other medicine men besides
P-1, P-6, and A-99 were conducting 'aaxpde' ceremonies on the Fort
>Apache Indian Reservation., There was a medicine man from'Canyon Day
holding dances there as well as at a sife in Bear Canyon., Unfor-
tunately, my consultants knew very.little about these cere@onies.

‘Neither is much information available about a medicine man who
conductgd 'aaxode' dances at Cedar Creek. His first ceremony was held

in the summer of 1917 along Amos Wash. After this he moved to the

1. This action by A-99 constituted a severe breach of Apache
custom., Medicine men were required to abstain from sex with their
wives while conducting ceremonies. Furthermore, medicine men were ex-
pected to set an example for the people and be faithful to their
spouses. ' '
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R~1l4 ranch near Cedar Creek. Prior to the dance at Cedar Creek, the
medicine man sent runners to Carrizo to inform the people living there
of the dance and to invite them to attend. Apaches who attended these
dances were dressed in white with black, blue, white, and yellow rib-
bons sewn across their chests and shoulders in the form of crosses.
Men who owned medicine hats wore them. The dances were held on a flat
near R-14's ranch. Four posts, the tops of which were adorned with
”é&mggié répfesenfing fheréérfh;ﬂﬁodﬁ; giaéé;';Q&'1igh£ﬁiﬁg;'wér;7plé§é&
in the ground. All the participants were instructed to dance within
the circle defined by thesevposts. While the Apaches danced the medi-
cine man sang. During the ceremony the participants were encduraged
to sing loudlyband dance. One consultant claimed that the noise gene-
rated at one 'aaﬁode' dance was heard as far away as ten miles.

The dances at Cedar Creek near the R-14 ranch were held through-
" out the summer and into the fall. One of the reasons given for the
failure of the prophecy was the same as in North Fork. It was reported
that the medicine man had been having an affair with a woman.

Still another area of the Fort Apache Indian Reservation where
'aayode' ceremonies were held in the summer of 1917 was Cibecue. The
medicine man conducting these dances was John Taylay, also known as
C-l. vTaylay reported to the people that he had received word from the
supernatural through an eagle, "This earth tﬁat we live on is very,
very old, useless, and it's not going to stand too long. The earth is
just rotten Zﬁépletqé7 so it's going to be destroyed some way, and

we're going to a better place" (male Apache consultant). Taylay gave



his followers eagle feathers and hadntin. He also had a spokesman.,
Congultants recall that Taylay would say something softly and his
spokesman would relay the message to the crowd in a loud voice. By

the fall of 1917 'aa[ode' éeremonies at Cibecue had ceased.
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